STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Supreme Court County

Honorable George C. James, Circuit Court Judge

**ORIGINAL
RECEIVED**

DEC -5 2016

S.C. SUPREME COURT

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

WAYNE ALBEON SCOTT,

PETITIONER

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2016-000067

BRIEF OF PETITIONER

LANELLE CANTEY DURANT
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

ISSUE PRESENTED

The Court of Appeals erred in affirming the trial court's refusal to grant Petitioner Scott immunity from prosecution for the murder charge pursuant to S.C. Code Section 16-11-410, the Protection of Persons and Property Act, when Petitioner was at his own home; the victim was on Petitioner's property although he had been asked not to come; Petitioner asked the victim to leave; and the victim continued to advance

STATEMENT

On March 28, 2013, the Florence County Grand Jury indicted Wayne A. Scott, Jr. on the charges of murder and possession of a firearm during the commission of a violent crime. On September 19, 2013, Scott appeared before the Honorable Howard King for a hearing on the defense motion for immunity pursuant to S.C. Code Section 16-11-410 entitled the Protection of Persons and Property Act, and the case law of State v. Duncan, 392 S.C. 404, 709 S.E.2d 662 (2011). Scott was represented by William E. Grove, and the state was represented by Matthew R. Ozment. R. 1 - 4. Judge King denied the motion following testimony by three witnesses including Scott. R. 104, ll. 18 – R. 109, ll. 3.

On October 21-24, 2013, Petitioner Scott proceeded to trial before the Honorable George C. James and a jury. Scott was represented by William Grove, and the state was represented by Matthew Ozment. R. 111. The jury returned a verdict of guilty on both charges of murder and the possession of a weapon during a crime of violence. R. 441, ll. 16 – R. 442, ll. 9. Judge James sentenced Scott to the maximum sentence of life imprisonment. R. 456, ll. 9 – 24. The South Carolina Court of Appeals affirmed Scott's conviction and sentence on November 12, 2015. State v. Scott, Op. No. 2015-UP-513 (Ct. App. filed November 12, 2015). App. 1-3. Appellate counsel filed a petition for rehearing which was denied on December 16, 2015. App. 4-12. The Supreme Court granted the petition for a writ of certiorari to the Court of Appeals on Question One only. This brief of petitioner follows.

ARGUMENT

The Court of Appeals erred in affirming the trial court's refusal to grant Petitioner Scott immunity from prosecution for the murder charge pursuant to S.C. Code Section 16-11-410, the Protection of Persons and Property Act, when Petitioner was at his own home; the victim was on Petitioner's property although he had been asked not to come; Petitioner asked the victim to leave; and the victim continued to advance.

IMMUNITY HEARING

Wayne Scott was charged with murder after he shot and killed a long time friend, Steve Springs, on September 24, 2012. R. 25, ll. 8 – 25; Indictment 2013-GS-21-0391. Defense counsel made a motion to the court pursuant to S.C. Code Section 16-11-410, entitled the Protection of Persons and Property Act, for immunity for Appellant Scott. R. 4, ll. 1 – 16. A hearing on the motion was held before The Honorable Howard King on September 19, 2013. R. 1.

Three witnesses testified for the defense: Gloria Scott, wife of Petitioner; Michael Bruce; and Wayne Scott. R. 2. Gloria Scott's testimony was that she had known Steve Springs for years because he was the heat and air repairman for her boss. She managed rental properties for her boss so Springs did work for her. Springs was also a friend outside work who came to their home. R. 18, ll. 4 – 23; R. 25, ll. 8 – 25; R. 27, ll. 18 – R. 28, ll. 4.

In March or April of 2012, Gloria learned that Springs was in a relationship with her married daughter who had two small children. Springs was also married to someone else. Gloria did not approve of the relationship especially because of her two young grandchildren. She told her daughter and Springs of her feelings which became an ongoing dialogue. R. 26, ll. 1 – R. 27, ll. 23. She and Springs had verbal fights about his relationship with her daughter who was Petitioner Wayne Scott's step-daughter. Scott did not approve of the relationship either. She and Scott had

given up on the situation although it made them angry. Gloria said it made her husband a “little bit angry.” R. 28, ll. 1 – R. 29, ll. 13.

On September 24, 2012, Gloria had taken her grandson to Skateland for the school sponsored night from 5:30 to 8:00. Then she took him home. R. 18, ll. 1 – R. 19, ll. 24. On the way to her home, she received a phone call from her husband, Appellant, whom she knew had been hunting with Michael Bruce. When she answered, Scott told her that he shot Springs. She called 911 and said her husband had gotten into an altercation with a gentleman. Gloria checked Springs for a pulse but he did not have one. R. 21, ll. 1 – R. 23, ll. 24.

When she arrived home, she went to her neighbor Carl’s house because Scott was there. She then took Scott home. Scott had asked another neighbor, George Watson, to do something with the gun, a Remington .06. While Gloria was at Carl’s house, Watson told her he had the gun. She asked him to bring the gun to her. She put the gun in her house on her bed. R. 29, ll. 14 – R. 30, ll. 15; R. 33, ll. 15- R. 35, ll. 22.

Scott told her that Springs had come to their house, and they got into a verbal argument. Springs then threatened Scott. Springs got out of his vehicle and was approaching Scott. Scott asked him to leave. Scott was sitting on the front porch of her office which was attached to the end of their trailer home. R. 30, ll. 1 - R. 33, ll. 14. Scott still had the Remington gun with him because he had taken it hunting that day. R. 35, ll. 8 – 22.

When the police arrived, Gloria talked with them, and they talked with Scott. Springs’ van was parked in front of her office, and his body was in the doorway of his van. R. 35, ll. 23 – R. 37, ll. 25.

Michael Bruce testified that he knew Wayne Scott because he had been “buddies” with Michael’s father, Larry Bruce, for many years. Also, Scott was a painter. He and Michael worked together painting houses almost every day. R. 7 - R. 8, ll. 24.

On September 24, 2012, he and Scott had been painting, and then went hunting after work. They hunted until almost dark. Michael had to take Scott home then. When Michael came out of the woods, Scott was on the phone with Springs. Michael did not know who originated the call. The two were arguing with each other steadily. Michael was not sure what they were arguing about. Michael told Scott to just hang up the phone on the ‘joker.’ Springs heard Michael say that and then wanted to talk to Michael although Michael did not know Springs. When Michael took the phone, Springs was cursing him, and told him he was going to beat his butt. Michael hung up. Springs called right back and Scott answered. They continued to argue. Scott hung up and Springs called right back. This happened multiple times. Michael knew that Springs told Scott he was coming to Scott’s house and beat his “butt.” Michael told Scott not to worry because Springs was not coming to his house. Michael had to leave Scott outside on his porch because he was locked out, and he had to wait for Gloria to get home. Michael found out the next morning that Springs was dead. R. 8, ll. 25 – R. 16, ll. 22.

Petitioner Scott testified that he went hunting with Michael Bruce after work on September 24, 2012. They went by Scott’s house to see if his grandson wanted to go, but the boy decided to go skating with Gloria. After hunting, Scott called Springs to see if Springs could obtain some items to cool the houses they were painting. Springs started talking about his relationship with Scott’s stepdaughter. On the way to Scott’s house with Michael driving, Springs kept calling and Scott kept hanging up on him because Springs was cursing him and threatening to beat Scott and Michael.

This happened at least two times or more times. Scott was surprised as Springs did not seem like that kind of guy. Scott did not know what was wrong with Springs. R. 50, ll. 14 – R. 57, ll. 15.

Michael dropped Scott at his house and then left. Scott tried to get in to put his gun away. He was locked out because he left his keys in his truck and his wife drove his truck to the skating rink. He just sat on the small platform porch in front of the office. He saw a white van coming down the road and realized it was Springs who drove in very fast, and stopped close, only five to seven feet, from Scott. Springs jumped out and started cursing Scott. Scott told him he thought they were friends and asked why he was doing this. Scott told him to get back in his van and please leave. He asked him several times. Scott had asked Springs not to come to his house. Springs then became enraged and Scott told him that he wanted nothing to do with the “situation” as long as his grandkids were fine. R. 56, ll. 11 – R. 61, ll. 17.

Springs just kept getting more irate, and Scott told him again to just leave as that was the best thing. Springs said no, and told Scott he would “show him.” Springs told Scott that he would take Scott’s gun and wrap it around his neck. Springs then stepped around the van door in a threatening way. Scott felt highly threatened. Scott then picked up his gun, pointed at Springs, and pulled the trigger one time. Springs was about six feet away. He was not sure that he hit Springs, but Springs fell on the ground and said help me. R. 61, ll. 16 – R. 62, ll. 25.

Scott was then in shock, and did not know what to do. He walked away and tried to call his wife. He finally reached her and told her he was going to Carl’s house. She was going to call 911. His neighbor, George Watson then appeared. He finally told Watson that he shot Springs. R. 63, ll. 1 – R. 66, ll. 13.

On cross examination, Scott said he drank a beer at Michael’s and had two beers while sitting on his porch when he arrived at home. He took Springs’ threats as real. He had previously

asked Springs not to come to his house because he was dating Scott's step daughter. He thought Springs was coming to hurt him. Scott could not get up and run and could not get in the house. When the law officers arrived, Scott talked to them and told them the truth. He believed Springs was trying to attack him. Springs was a big man: 240 to 260 pounds and taller than Scott. Scott was five feet eight to ten inches tall and 131 pounds. He just wanted to stop Springs. R. 66, ll. 14 – R. 84, ll. 20. Scott did not see a weapon on Springs but then he really could not tell. R. 89, ll. 1-25. Scott admitted to a conviction in 2000 or 2001 for manufacturing marijuana. R. 80, ll. 1 – 25.

Defense counsel argued that Section 16-11-410, the "Stand your Ground Law," applied in Scott's case, and he should be granted immunity from prosecution. Scott was in his home and had a reasonable fear for his life or of being seriously injured. Section 16-11-440 (C) provides that the Act applied to a person who was not engaged in unlawful activity and was in a place where he had a right to be. The judge stated that the statute provided applied only to a person who was being attacked. Defense counsel argued that a person need not be assaulted to a particular degree before he could defend himself. Counsel stated that if there was a reasonable expectation that a violent crime was about to occur, any reasonable force could be used. The judge then noted that counsel was relying on subsection (C) of 16-11-440. R. 85, ll. 1 – R. 88, ll. 3.

The state argued that Scott was a convicted felon in possession of a gun. Therefore, he was not engaged in lawful activity when the incident occurred. Scott could not tell if Springs had a weapon or not but did not actively see one. R. 88, ll. 4 – R. 89, ll. 12.

Defense counsel replied that by citing State v. Burriss, 334 S.C. 256, 513 S.E.2d 104 (1999), where McCaskill and Goodson¹ stood for the proposition that a person could be acting lawfully even if he was in unlawful possession of a weapon if he were entitled to arm himself in self-defense

¹ State v. McCaskill, 300 S.C. 256, 387 S.E.2d 268 (1990); State v. Goodson, 312 S.C. 278, 440 S.E.2d 370 (1994).

at the time of the shooting. Counsel argued that the Legislature did not intend for a person to wait until he was being assaulted if he were threatened. R. 89, ll. 25 – R. 92, ll. 6.

The judge replied that the intent of the Legislature was to prevent people from being attacked in their homes or businesses or vehicles. It had nothing to do with preventing people from being attacked on the street or anywhere else. Defense counsel argued that Scott had no where else to go and wanted to avoid the attack. The judge ruled the statute required a physical attack and not just an assault because the word attack was used in the statute. Defense counsel respectfully disagreed, and argued that the word attack encompassed an assault without a battery. R. 92, ll. 7 – R. 104, ll. 15.

The judge ruled that he was relying on Section 16-11-410 and State v. Duncan, 392 S.C. 404, 7-9 S.E.2d 662 (2011), in making his decision. He was not making a decision on whether the unlawful activity, the possession of a weapon, precluded Scott from raising the immunity granted by the statute. The judge's ruling relied on the second prong of 16-11- 440 (C). The legislature could have clearly used the word assault if that was their intent. He held that the Legislature's "plain and unequivocal" meaning meant a physical contact attack. Therefore, the judge denied Scott's motion for immunity under the Stand Your Ground Law. R. 104, ll. 18 – R. 109, ll. 3.

TRIAL TESTIMONY

The jury trial was held October 21-24, 2013 before a different judge, the Honorable George C. James. R. 111-116.

Michael Burch testified that on September 24, 2012, he and Scott had been painting. They then went hunting after work until almost dark. Michael had to take Scott home. When Michael came out of the woods, Scott was on the phone with Springs. Michael did not know who originated the call. The two were arguing with each other steadily. Michael was not sure what they were

arguing about. Michael told Scott to just stop arguing with the man, and Michael took the phone and hung up. Springs had told Michael that he was going to “beat Michael’s butt.” Springs called right back and they continued to argue. Scott did not really threaten Springs but both said they were going to “beat each other’s butt.” Michael could hear the conversation and knew that Scott was being threatened. Springs told Scott he was coming to Scott’s house and beat his “butt.” Michael told Scott not to worry because Springs was not coming to his house. Michael left Scott outside on his porch because he was locked out. Michael found out the next morning that Springs was dead. R. 229, ll. 14 – R. 242, ll. 10.

Gloria Scott testified as a state’s witness. She and Scott had been married eighteen years and had no children together. Gloria had a daughter, Crystal Hanna, who was twenty-seven, married with two small children. R. 244, ll. 1 – R. 245, ll. 20.

Gloria knew Steve Springs because he did heat and air repair for her boss’s rental houses, and she managed the rentals. She knew Springs was married also. When she learned of the relationship between her daughter and Springs, she did not approve. She did not want Springs around her grandkids. Before their affair, Gloria’s relationship with Springs had been friendly. He used to come to her house weekly but stopped when he began the affair with Crystal. R. 245, ll. 21 – R. 248, ll. 25.

The weekend before Springs died, Gloria called him about a need in a rental unit for air service. She could not reach him but her daughter told her to call Springs’ son. However, Gloria had poor phone service and could not reach him. She did post a message on Facebook about taking her grandson and what fun they were having. Springs called irate cursing her because she could post on Facebook but could not call his son. Gloria then posted a message on Facebook that “that asshole is

going to cause me to kill him.” She did not tell Scott about Springs’ call. R. 248, ll. 21 – R. 252, ll. 17.

She took her grandson to Skateland on September 24, 2012. Scott was going hunting. Scott called her on her way home, and she picked him up at her neighbor, Carl’s, house. She called 911 as she was taking Scott home. She asked another neighbor, George, to get the gun and put in her truck. Gloria took the gun in her house and put it on the bed. She checked on Springs when 911 operator told her to, but there was no sign of life. She denied telling Larry Bruce that she had put a knife on the ground next to Springs, and that she was worried her DNA may be on it. R. 252, ll. 18 – R. 261, ll. 12.

Investigator William Hester talked to Scott at the scene the night of the incident. Scott agreed to talk to Hester. Deputy Michael Gifford had told Hester that he talked to Scott earlier in the evening and had Mirandized him. Hester did not read the Miranda rights again to Scott. Hester did not record Scott’s statement. Scott told him that he had gone hunting that afternoon with a co-worker. He had verbal altercations with the deceased on the way home from hunting. He started getting phone calls from Springs talking about issues with his personal life. Springs was cursing Scott and screaming at him so Scott hung up the phone. This happened multiple times. Hester checked their telephones and confirmed there were numerous calls between the two. R. 191, ll. 21 – R. 196, ll. 19.

When Scott arrived at home, he realized that he did not have his keys as his wife had taken the kids skating. He decided to sit on the porch and drink a beer and wait for her. The lights were not on. It was dark. Scott saw the white van coming down the driveway and realized it was Springs. Springs turned the van lights off and turned the vehicle off. He got out of the van. Scott told him that he needed to just leave. Springs then stepped out from around the van door. Scott told him that

if he took another step, he would shoot him. Springs took a step out and Scott fired the gun. R. 196, ll. 20 – R. 199, ll.8.

Scott saw a screwdriver in Springs' left hand. Springs fell to the ground, and said "help me." That scared Scott and went around to the back of the mobile home. Scott told Hester that Springs had advanced towards him one step. Scott told him that he put the gun in the house. Then he went to his neighbor Carl's house. Scott drank a few beers there and called his wife. Scott did not call 911 but his wife, Gloria, did. Hester found a screw driver about five to seven feet from the deceased, and a open-blade lock knife where the deceased's hand was dropped. Hester transported Scott to jail, and obtained warrants for murder and possession of a weapon during a violent crime. R. 199, ll.9 – R. 209, ll. 24.

Catherine Leisy, a forensic scientist with SLED, analyzed the screwdriver and knife for DNA. R. 210, ll. 7 – 212, ll. 16. She also analyzed Scott's DNA for comparison, but was not able to develop DNA profiles from the screwdriver or knife. R. 212, ll. 1 – R. 217, ll. 6.

George Watson was a neighbor of Scott, and they were good friends who saw each other almost daily. On September 24, 2012, he heard a gunshot which he thought was in his backyard. He went to investigate and saw Scott in his backyard. Scott was talking on his cell phone. Watson heard him say that he shot him. Scott told Watson that he fired the shot. Watson did not believe him at first. Scott threatened to shoot Watson and burn his house down if Watson told anyone. Watson then saw Springs' van and realized that Scott was telling the truth. R. 319, ll. 8 – R. 323, ll. 22.

Scott told Watson he killed Springs because he did not want his grandkids calling Springs daddy. When Watson asked if Springs have anything in his hands, Scott said no. Scott went to his boat and got a screwdriver and went to put it in Springs' hand. When Scott returned, he told Watson that Springs was still alive and he may have to shoot him again. But he did not. Scott asked Watson

to get rid of the gun so Watson threw it into the woods. He retrieved the gun and put it in Gloria's truck when she called and asked him to do that. R. 323, ll. 24 – R. 329, ll. 3.

Watson talked to the police at the scene very briefly but did not tell them the truth because he was afraid. After the police took Scott, Watson asked to go somewhere else to talk. He met Investigator Hester at the Waffle House and told him what really happened. R. 329, ll. 6 – R. 331, ll. 24.

Sabrina Hartfield, Watson's girlfriend, testified that about two weeks before the shooting, Gloria told her of a conflict Gloria had with Springs at Crystal's house. Gloria was going to "whip Spring's ass or kill him." R. 332, ll. 15- R. 350, ll. 6.

Hubert Black knew Scott from installing hardwood floors. Sometime in September 2012, they left work early because they got into liquor cabinet and then smoked a joint. Black, Scott, Carl Munn, and another man were riding in the truck together. Black said Scott was a "good fellow" when he was not drinking. He never thought Scott would hurt anyone. But that day, Scott said he was going on a killing spree. There were three people he wanted to kill: Larry Bruce, Black's half brother, and this other "boy" who was messing with Scott's step daughter who was making phone threats to Scott and "putting his grandchildren through that stuff." R. 218, ll. 9 – R. 223, ll. 19.

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