RECEIVED

JAN 24 2017

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

S.C. SUPREME COURT

On Writ of Certiorari to the South Carolina Court of Appeals
Appeal from Florence County
George C. James, Jr. Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2016-000067

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

WAYNE ALBEON SCOTT, JR.,

PETITIONER,

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

J. ROBERT BOLCHOZ
Chief Deputy Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
S.C. Bar # 5758

South Carolina Office of Attorney General
P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211-1549
(803) 734-3601

E.L. CLEMENTS, III
Solicitor, Twelfth Circuit
Box Q, City-County Complex
Florence, SC 29501

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

The State again argued that Petitioner was in unlawful possession of the weapon and that the victim's actions that night did not constitute an attack. (R. pp. 94–96). He then summarized the State's position, stating,

I would argue that kind of three points, the first being unlawful activity; next, that he was not attacked; and lastly, that even if you somehow say he

that Scott was considered a convicted felon under federal law and not entitled to possess the weapon. App. 443. The “manufacturing marijuana” conviction qualified as a qualified offense under federal law to preclude the lawful possession of the weapon. S.C. Code Ann. §44-53-370 (b)(1) (for a first offense not more than 15 years). 18 U.S.C.A. § 922 (g) states in pertinent part that: “[I]t shall be unlawful for any person--(1) who has been convicted in any court of, a crime punishable by imprisonment for a term exceeding one year; ... to ship or transport in interstate or foreign commerce, **or possess** in or affecting commerce, any firearm or ammunition; or to receive **any firearm or ammunition which has been shipped or transported in interstate or foreign commerce.**” There has been no assertion his right to possess a weapon had been restored prior to this incident.

was attacked, he was not in—he, by his own testimony, was not in fear of death or great bodily injury. He was merely in fear that he was about to be attacked by a man who had no weapons.

(R. pp. 96–97).

What the Trial Judge Ruled.

After taking some time to review the cases that both sides had handed up during argument, the trial court ruled as follows:

Scott had already through his attorney already indicated that he is not relying on subsection (a) granting him a presumption of reasonable fear or imminent peril or death entitling him to use deadly force because there's no evidence that there was anyone in the process of unlawfully or forcefully entering a dwelling or a residence. And so subparagraph (a) of the statute does not apply.

Rather, according to Scott's own argument, he is relying on section—subsection (c), which states as follows: a person who is not engaged in unlawful activity or who is attacked in another place where he has a right to be, including but not limited to his place of business, has no duty to retreat and has the right to stand his ground and meet force with force, including deadly force, if he reasonably believes it is necessary to prevent death or great bodily injury to himself or another person or to prevent the commission of a violent crime as defined in Section 16-1-60.

That being the case and relying on that statute, there are three things that I think that the person asserting the right to the immunity must prove by the greater weight or preponderance of the evidence. First, that a—he's not a person who is engaged in an unlawful activity; second, who is attacked in another place where he has a right to be; and third, reasonably believes it necessary to prevent death or bodily injury to himself or another.

The State contends that he was engaged in an unlawful activity, i.e. the possession of a weapon because he was a convicted felon, and relies upon the federal law which prohibits a convicted felon from being in possession of any kind of a firearm. The defendant contends unconvincingly that that is federal law and not what the statute meant to apply or not meant that that statute should not apply. I disagree with that. I think if it's an unlawful activity, it's an unlawful activity, whether it's a violation of a state statute or a federal law.

But it is not necessary for this Court to reach a decision on whether the unlawful activity in this case, that is the possession of the violent—of the weapon, precludes the defendant from asserting the immunity under the Stand Your Ground law. I've reviewed *Slater*⁷ and *Burriss*⁸, and I'm making no finding with regard as to whether the unlawful activity, i.e. the possession of the weapon, precludes him from raising the unlawful—or raising the immunity granted by the Stand Your Ground Act or any other defenses that he might have in this case.

In my view, the defendant does not meet the second prong of - of subparagraph (C), that he be attacked. Had the legislature meant a threat of attack or an assault, accompanied or unaccompanied by a battery, it very clearly could have said so.

It is the duty of this Court to give to the acts passed by the General Assembly their plain and unequivocal meaning and to me attacked means a physical contact attack. As I said, the legislature could have used the term assault and battery. It could have used the term a threat of assault, but it did not, or threat of attack. It did not. It used the word who is attacked. And in my view, the defendant has not met that prong of the requirement of subparagraph (c).

Furthermore, Scott has not proven by the greater weight or a preponderance of the evidence that he could reasonably believe that he was in fear of death or great bodily injury. The testimony is clearly—the only testimony in the record is that the victim in this case was unarmed, that he came—he was behind the door of the vehicle originally. He came no closer than four or five feet to an armed man who was sitting there with a weapon in his lap at least. In my view, the testimony of reasonable fear is simply not credible.

For those reasons, the Court denies the motion under the Stand Your Ground Act and finds that the defendant is not entitled to immunity granted by that Act.

(R. p. 106, line 8–p. 109, line 3).

⁷ *State v. Slater*, 373 S.C. 66, 644 S.E.2d 50 (2007) (the unlawful possession of a firearm can, under some circumstances, constitute an unlawful activity so as to preclude an accident defense or self-defense if the weapon is the proximate cause of the killing).

⁸ *State v. Burriss*, 334 S.C. 256, 513 S.E.2d 104 (1999) (where the defendant's unlawful possession of a weapon is merely incidental to the defendant's lawful act of arming himself in self-defense, the unlawful possession of the weapon will not prevent the use of an accident defense).

What the Court of Appeals Ruled

In summarily denying relief, the Court of Appeals found:

1. As to whether the trial court erred in failing to grant immunity under the Act: *State v. Curry*, 406 S.C. 364, 370, 752 S.E.2d 263, 266 (2013) (“A claim of immunity under the Act requires a pretrial determination using a preponderance of the evidence standard, which [the appellate] court reviews under an abuse of discretion standard of review.”); *State v. Douglas*, 411 S.C. 307, 316, 768 S.E.2d 232, 238 (Ct.App.2014) (“[T]he abuse of discretion standard of review does not allow this court to reweigh the evidence or second-guess the trial court’s assessment of witness credibility.”); *State v. Pagan*, 369 S.C. 201, 208, 631 S.E.2d 262, 265 (2006) (“An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law.”); *Curry*, 406 S.C. at 371, 752 S.E.2d at 266 (“Consistent with the Castle Doctrine and the text of the Act, a valid case of self-defense must exist, and the trial court must necessarily consider the elements of self-defense in determining a defendant’s entitlement to the Act’s immunity.”); *id.* (“This includes all elements of self-defense, save the duty to retreat.”); *id.* at 372, 752 S.E.2d at 267 (“[I]mmunity is predicated on an accused demonstrating the elements of self-defense to the satisfaction of the trial court by the preponderance of the evidence.”).

App.p. 2.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“A claim of immunity under the Act requires a pretrial determination using a preponderance of the evidence standard, which [an appellate court] reviews under an abuse of discretion standard of review.” *State v. Curry*, 406 S.C. 364, 370, 752 S.E.2d 263, 266 (2013) (citing *Duncan*, 392 S.C. 404, 709 S.E.2d 662). An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court’s ruling is based on an error of law or, when grounded in factual conclusions, is without evidentiary support. *State v. Pittman*, 373 S.C. 527, 570, 647 S.E.2d 144, 166–67 (2008) (citing *Clark v. Cantrell*, 339 S.C. 369, 389, 529 S.E.2d 528, 539 (2000)).

ANALYSIS

In *State v. Curry*, this Court clarified that the Act does not require a trial court to accept a defendant's version of the underlying facts. 406 S.C. at 371, 752 S.E.2d at 266. Rather, "[c]onsistent with the Castle Doctrine and the text of the Act, a valid case of self-defense must exist, and the trial court must necessarily consider the elements of self-defense in determining a defendant's entitlement to the Act's immunity. This includes all elements of self-defense, save the duty to retreat." *Id.* The four elements required by law to establish self-defense are as follows:

First, the defendant must be without fault in bringing on the difficulty. Second, the defendant must have actually believed he was in imminent danger of losing his life or sustaining serious bodily injury, or he actually was in such imminent danger. Third, if his defense is based upon his belief of imminent danger, a reasonably prudent man of ordinary firmness and courage would have entertained the same belief. If the defendant actually was in imminent danger, the circumstances were such as would warrant a man of ordinary prudence, firmness and courage to strike the fatal blow in order to save himself from serious bodily harm or losing his own life. Fourth, the defendant had no other probable means of avoiding the danger of losing his own life or sustaining serious bodily injury than to act as he did in this particular instance.

Id. at 371 n.4, 752 S.E.2d at 266 n.4.

The pretrial court did not have the benefit of the Supreme Court's decision in *Curry* at the time it denied Petitioner's motion for immunity as *Curry* was decided a few months after the pretrial hearing. Nevertheless, the trial court's analysis is consistent with the procedure our Supreme Court set forth both in *Curry* and in previous cases dealing with the Act. The pretrial court denied Petitioner's immunity for two separate reasons—first, because Petitioner was not being attacked at the time he shot Victim, and second, because Petitioner's testimony regarding his "reasonable fear" was not credible.

The defendant is not allowed to the benefits of the Act if he is engaged in unlawful activity at the time of the incident. The presumption set forth in Section 16-11-440(A)⁹ does not apply if

B) The presumption provided in subsection (A) does not apply if the person:

(3) who uses deadly force is **engaged in an unlawful activity** or is using the dwelling, residence, or occupied vehicle to further an unlawful activity; or

Similarly, the statute provides:

(C) A person **who is not engaged in an unlawful activity** and who is attacked in another place where he has a right to be, including, but not limited to, his place of business, has no duty to retreat and has the right to stand his ground and meet force with force, including deadly force, if he reasonably believes it is necessary to prevent death or great bodily injury to himself or another person or to prevent the commission of a violent crime as defined in Section 16-1-60.

S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-440. Under S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-450, a person would not be permitted to immunity under the Act based upon Section 440(A) or (C) if engaged in an unlawful activity.

⁹ S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-440 (A) provides:

(A) A person is presumed to have a reasonable fear of imminent peril of death or great bodily injury to himself or another person when using deadly force that is intended or likely to cause death or great bodily injury to another person if the person:

(1) against whom the deadly force is used is in the process of unlawfully and forcefully entering, or has unlawfully and forcibly entered a dwelling, residence, or occupied vehicle, or if he removes or is attempting to remove another person against his will from the dwelling, residence, or occupied vehicle; and

(2) who uses deadly force knows or has reason to believe that an unlawful and forcible entry or unlawful and forcible act is occurring or has occurred.

Petitioner Was Not Being Attacked

The pretrial court interpreted the word “attack” in the Act to require some sort of physical contact, rejecting the idea that the term encompassed a mere assault or threat of an attack. “Unless there is something in the statute requiring a different interpretation, the words used in a statute must be given their ordinary meaning.” *Duncan*, 392 S.C. at 408, 709 S.E.2d at 664 (citing *Mid-State Auto Auction of Lexington, Inc. v. Altman*, 324 S.C. 65, 69, 476 S.E.2d 690, 692 (1996)). The verb “attack” means “to act violently against (someone or something): to try to hurt, injure, or destroy (something or someone)” according to Merriam-Webster’s definition. *Attack Definition*, Merriam-Webster, <http://merriam-webster.com/dictionary/attack> (last visited Mar. 6, 2015). The pretrial court’s interpretation of the word “attack” is consistent with the ordinary meaning of that word. The pretrial court further found that Petitioner’s description of the victim’s acts prior to the shooting did not constitute an attack based on the pretrial court’s understanding of that term. Respondent submits that the pretrial court did not abuse its discretion in denying immunity on that basis because the record supports the pretrial court’s findings and because the court’s decision was not based on an error of law.

Testimony of “Reasonable Fear” Was Not Credible

However, even if this Court finds that the term “attack” is ambiguous and further determines that the pretrial court abused its discretion in denying immunity on that basis, Petitioner is still not entitled to relief because the pretrial court denied Petitioner’s immunity on a separate, alternate ground. In particular, the pretrial court concluded that Petitioner had not met his burden of showing by a preponderance of the evidence that he

was reasonably in fear of death or great bodily injury when he shot Victim. R.p. 108, l. 17-25.

As outlined above, this is clearly a relevant inquiry as established by *Curry*. And the record supports the pretrial court's determination. The pretrial court noted that the testimony was that Victim was unarmed (and that Petitioner did not see any weapons in Victim's hands though he noticed the victim's hands were "swinging . . . how people are when they're angry[,]") (R. p. 74, lines 11–24)) and that the victim came toward Petitioner, who was armed with a rifle, and got no closer than four or five feet from Petitioner before Petitioner shot him. (R. p. 108, lines 17–25).

The pretrial court further concluded that Petitioner's testimony as to his "reasonable fear" was "not credible." (R. p. 108, lines 24–25). *See State v. Douglas*, 411 S.C. 307,316, 768 S.E.2d 232 (Ct. App. 2014) ("[T]he abuse of discretion standard of review does not allow this court to reweigh the evidence or second-guess the trial court's assessment of witness credibility."), cert. granted November 5, 2015. The pretrial court's ruling could go to either the second or third prong of self-defense depending on how one interprets it—presumably, the pretrial court found that Petitioner's testimony that he was in "fear" was not credible, and thus, the second prong was not satisfied, but the pretrial court's ruling could also mean that the court found that the "fear" Petitioner claimed to have felt when he shot the victim was not reasonable, and thus the third prong was not satisfied.¹⁰ Either way, based on the pretrial court's factual findings, Petitioner was not

¹⁰ Again, the pretrial court did not have the benefit of *Curry* where the Supreme Court clearly announced that a court must necessarily consider the prongs of self-defense in an immunity determination.

entitled to immunity. Furthermore, those factual findings were supported by the record. Accordingly, the pretrial court did not abuse its discretion.¹¹

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